

Original Research Article

INFLUENCE OF SOIL AMENDMENTS ON GROWTH PARAMETERS AND ECONOMICS IN MAIZE (*Zea mays* L).

ABSTRACT:

Aim: To evaluate the efficacy of different soil amendments on plant growth parameters and economics in maize (*Zea mays* L).

Place and Duration of Study: Maize variety 900-M-GOLD was cultivated during rabi 2014-15 at College Farm, College of Agriculture, Rajendranagar, PJTSAU, Hyderabad, Telangana state, India.

Methodology: The Experiment was laid out in ~~Randomised~~ Randomized Complete Block Design (RCBD) with 6 treatments replicated four times. Treatments consist of T₁- vermicompost @ 5 t ha⁻¹, T₂-FYM @ 10 t ha⁻¹, T₃-tanksilt @ 50 t ha⁻¹, T₄- biochar @ 10 t ha⁻¹, T₅- control (without any fertilizer), T₆- RDF (NPK-200, 60, 50 kg ha⁻¹). Recommended Dose of Fertilizers was commonly applied from treatment T₁ to T₄.

Results: There ~~is~~ were no significant difference in plant population with the application of all the treatments. At harvest, significantly higher leaf area index recorded with application of tanksilt (1.67) which was on par with vermicompost (1.66), biochar (1.65), FYM (1.65), RDF (1.51) and significantly higher than control (0.80). Maximum gross returns (INR 131,283 ha⁻¹), net returns (INR 85,533 ha⁻¹) and BC ratio (2.87) were recorded with the application of tanksilt and minimum gross returns (INR 51431 ha⁻¹), net returns (INR 24781 ha⁻¹) and BC ratio (1.93) were recorded in the control.

Conclusion: It was determined that growth parameter viz., leaf area, leaf area index recorded significantly higher with tanksilt application which is on par with the application of vermicompost, biochar, FYM. The application of all the treatments increased net returns compared to control.

Key words: ~~Benefit, cost~~ BCR, leaf area index, maize, plant height and tanksilt.

Formatted: Subscript

Formatted: Subscript

Comment [SC1]: Check the sub-scripts of all the Treatments

Comment [SC2]: Please specify economic return rather than generalization.

1. INTRODUCTION:

Maize (*Zea mays* L.) is an important food and feed crop among cereals which occupies third rank after wheat and rice in the world. Because of its expanded use in the agro-industries, it is recognized as a leading commercial crop of agro economic value. In India, maize (*Zea mays* L.) is the third most important cereal crop that provides food, feed, fodder and serves as a source of raw material for developing hundreds of industrial products viz., starch, protein, oil, alcoholic beverages, food ~~sweetners~~sweeteners, pharma, cosmetics and bio-fuel etc. Potential yield of maize is higher than that of either wheat or rice and we can expect maize to play a proportionally larger and more important role in world food security. Hence, it is called as the "Queen of cereals"[1]. Maize, a crop of worldwide economic importance together with rice and wheat provides approximately more than 30% of the food calories to more than 4.5 billion people. In India, maize is considered as third most important crop among the cereals and used as staple food in many developing countries [2]. Worldwide, maize is grown in an area of 197.20 m ha with production of 1148.49 Mt and productivity of 5824 kg ha⁻¹ while 9.56 m ha with 28.77 Mt production and 3006 kg ha⁻¹ productivity in our country [3]. In Telangana, maize occupies an area of 0.56 m ha with production and productivity of 2.99 Mt and 5347 kg ha⁻¹ respectively [4]. Maize yields in India need to be increased significantly so as to meet food, feed and industrial needs. Maize yield and yield components showed positive response when biochar was used as soil amendment because it improves the field-saturated hydraulic conductivity of the sandy soil, as a result net WUE also increased and more moisture and nutrients were available to the crop throughout the growing season [5]. Biochar amended soils resulted in better crop establishment and positively increased crop growth rate and net assimilation rate which resulted in higher corn productivity [6]. The nutrient needs of crop production systems can be met through integrated nutrient management and sustainable crop productivity in maize based cropping systems [7].

Keeping in view the importance of soil amendments and integrated nutrient management, the present study was therefore conducted to compare different levels of synthetic fertilizer with soil amendments and investigate best possible combinations of organic and inorganic fertilizers.

2. MATERIAL AND METHODS:

Comment [SC3]: Please check and refer accordingly. As per FAOSTAT 2022, Maize is the top most produced cereal in the world.

Comment [SC4]: Reference?

Comment [SC5]: million?

Comment [SC6]: elaborate for the first time

Comment [SC7]: You only focusing on the Biochar! But there are other soil amendments also which you used as treatments. Please also give a brief update/introduction of those.

A field experiment was carried out at College Farm, College of Agriculture, Rajendranagar, PJTSAU, Hyderabad, Telangana state, India. Maize variety 900-M-GOLD was cultivated during rabi 2014-15 in ~~Randomised~~Randomized Block Design (RBD) with 6 treatments replicated four times. Treatments consist of T1- vermicompost @ 5 t ha⁻¹, T2-FYM @ 10 t ha⁻¹, T3-tanksilt @ 50 t ha⁻¹, T4- biochar @10 t ha⁻¹, T5- control (without any fertilizer), T6- RDF (NPK-200, 60, 50 kg ha⁻¹). Recommended Dose of Fertilizers was commonly applied from treatment T1 to T4. Plant number was counted in six rows of 3.5 m length and converted to hectare. The final plant population at harvest stage were recorded from each experimental plot and expressed in thousands per hectare. Plant height (cm) was measured from the base of the plant to the tip of the top most leaf before tasseling and to the tip of the tassel after tasseling of every tagged plant. Mean of five selected plants was reported as plant height at 30, 60, 90 days after sowing and at harvest expressed in cm. Leaf area was estimated on three plants in each plot at 30, 60, 90 DAS and harvesting stages. The area of total leaves was measured with digital leaf area meter (LI-3100) and expressed in cm². Leaf area index was calculated by using the formula [8].

Leaf area (cm²)

LAI = -----

Unit ground area (cm²)

Cost of cultivation (INR ha⁻¹): The market price of the inputs that were prevailing during the period of experiment and produce were considered for working out the cost of cultivation.

Gross returns (INR ha⁻¹): Gross returns (GMR) were calculated by multiplying the grain and stover yield with their respective prevailing market price

Net returns (INR ha⁻¹): Net returns were calculated by subtracting the cost of cultivation from gross returns for each treatment.

Benefit cost ratio (BC ratio): Benefit cost ratio was calculated by dividing gross returns with cost of cultivation for each treatment.

Gross returns (INR ha⁻¹)

Benefit: Cost = -----

Cost of cultivation (INR ha⁻¹)

Statistically significance was tested by F-value at 5 % level of probability and critical difference was worked out where ever the effect were significant.

Comment [SC8]: Please check with the sub-script of the treatments.

Comment [SC9]: Need to mention how much was the plot size?

Comment [SC10]: Use equation function to prepare this

Comment [SC11]: Use equation function to prepare this

3. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION:

3.1 Plant population:

Data in regard with plant population per plot was recorded at the time of crop harvest are depicted in table 1 showed ~~nonsignificant~~non-significant variation in plant population within all the treatments. Maximum number of plants ha⁻¹ (63,333) was recorded with tanksilt and minimum (63295) in control. These findings are related to the findings of Mishra *et al.* [9].

Comment [SC12]: need explain why there was no variation in plant population?

3.2 Plant height:

The plant height of maize in response to different integrated nutrient management treatments was furnished in the table 1. No significant difference was observed with plant height due to different treatments at 30 days after sowing. At 60 DAS, there was significant difference observed among the treatments in terms of plant height. Application of tanksilt(~~195.10 cm~~) recorded significantly higher plant height(195.10 cm) which was on par with vermicompost (190.80 cm), biochar (188.60 cm), FYM(180.50 cm) and significantly higher than the RDF (176.50 cm) and control(120.10 cm). At 90 DAS, there was significant difference observed among the treatments in terms of plant height. Application of tanksilt(~~241.20 cm~~) recorded significantly higher plant height(241.20 cm) which was on par with vermicompost (238.20 cm), biochar (237.10 cm), FYM(235.10 cm), RDF (230.30 cm) and significantly higher than the and control (140.10 cm). At harvest there was significant difference observed among the treatments in terms of plant height. Application of tanksilt(~~249.80 cm~~) recorded significantly higher plant height(249.80 cm) which was on par with vermicompost (246.10 cm), biochar (245.20 cm), FYM(243.30 cm), RDF (238.90 cm) and significantly higher than the and control (148.10 cm). The effect of tanksilt, vermicompost, FYM, biochar and chemical fertilizer in combination was more pronounced with the advancement of crop growth indicating better effect on plant height of maize. It ~~is might be~~ due to the improved fertility status of the soil through microbial and better utilization of plant nutrients by maize. Organic manures especially vermicompost supply nutrients to plant roots in balanced amount and stimulate growth, increased organic matter content of the soil including the “humic substances” that affect nutrient production and promote root growth which lead to better growth of maize plants resulting in taller plants. Similar findings were also reported by Biswas *et al.* [10] and Naveen *et al.* [11].

3.3 Leaf area:

Leaf area computed at 30, 60, 90 days after sowing and at harvest differed significantly by the application of different soil amendments (Table 2). The leaf area tends to increase up to 90 DAS, beyond which, it tends to decline towards harvest. Leaf area was not significantly differed with different treatments at 30 days after sowing. At 60 DAS, significantly higher leaf area recorded with application of tanksilt (5012 cm²) which was on par with vermicompost (4990 cm²), biochar (4982 cm²), FYM(4960 cm²) and significantly higher than the RDF (4610 cm²) and control (2000 cm²). Application of all treatments significantly increased the leaf area compared to control. Application of tanksilt and vermicompost significantly increased leaf area compared to RDF and control. At 90 DAS, significantly higher leaf area recorded with application of tanksilt (5522 cm²) which was on par with vermicompost (5501 cm²), biochar (5491 cm²), FYM(5483 cm²) and significantly higher than the RDF (5010 cm²) and control (2400 cm²). Application of all the amendments significantly increased the leaf area compared to RDF and control. At harvest, significantly higher leaf area recorded with application of tanksilt (2500) which was on par with vermicompost (2492 cm²), biochar (2480 cm²), FYM(2471 cm²), RDF (2262 cm²) and significantly higher than control (1200 cm²). Application of all the amendments significantly increased the leaf area compared to control. The increased leaf area under combined application of organic and inorganic nutrients might be attributed to better absorption of nutrients, imparted by sufficient air and moisture in the *rhizosphere* which helped in increasing expansion of leaf lamina. This corroborates the findings of Manjhiet *al.*[12] and IniyaPonmozhi *et al.* [13].

3.4 Leaf Area Index (LAI):

Leaf area index computed at 30, 60, 90 days after sowing and at harvest differed significantly by the application of different soil amendments (Table 2). The leaf area index tends to increase up to 90 DAS, beyond which, it tends to decline towards harvest. Leaf area index was not significantly differed with different treatments at 30 days after sowing. At 60 DAS, significantly higher leaf area index recorded with application of tanksilt (3.34) which was on par with vermicompost (3.33), biochar (3.32), FYM(3.31) and significantly higher than the RDF (3.07) and control (1.33). Application of all the amendments significantly increased the LAI compared to RDF and control. At 90 DAS, significantly higher leaf area index recorded with application of tanksilt (3.68) which was on par with vermicompost (3.67), biochar (3.66),

FYM(3.66) and significantly higher than the RDF (3.34) and control (1.60). Application of all the amendments significantly increased the LAI compared to RDF and control. At harvest, significantly higher leaf area index recorded with application of tanksilt (1.67) which was on par with vermicompost (1.66), biochar (1.65), FYM(1.65), RDF (1.51) and significantly higher than control (0.80). Application of all the amendments significantly increased the LAI compared to control.

Leaf area index is principal important growth parameter in all crops, since the optimum leaf area is required for a maximum light interception, which results in higher photosynthesis [14]. The significant response to vermicompost or FYM application on leaf area index of maize might be due to addition of manures likely to increase the respiration rate, metabolism and growth of plants [15]. Further, the beneficial effect of organic manures on leaf area index might be due to synthesis of certain phytohormones and vitamins and more interception of solar radiation and synthesis of more chlorophyll, more photosynthetic rate and accumulation of more assimilates which resulted in higher leaf area index in maize [16].

3.5 Test weight:

The application of different amendments resulted increase in test weight than RDF applied plots and control (Table 3). The test weight of maize grain ranged from 18.41g (control) to 30.78 g (tanksilt). The lowest test weight was produced from control plot where fertilizer was not applied. Among the various amendments, the test weight of maize followed the order of tanksilt> vermicompost > biochar > FYM. All the amendment application resulted in significant increase in test weight over the control but it was on par with the RDF applied plots. Application of amendments resulted in more availability of nutrients and causes the increased test weight of the grains. Results were in line with the findings of Adeyemo and Agele [17].

Comment [SC13]: Need to mention in Methodology how it was calculated

3.6 Yield:

The application of different amendments resulted increases in grain yield than RDF applied plots and control (Table 3). The grain yield of maize ranged from 3547 kg ha⁻¹ (control) to 9054 kg ha⁻¹ (tanksilt). The lowest yield was produced from control plot where fertilizer was not applied. In RDF applied plots 5750 kg ha⁻¹ of maize grain yield was recorded. Among the various amendments, the grain yield of maize followed the order of tanksilt> vermicompost

>biochar > FYM. All the amendment application resulted in significant increase in grain yield over the RDF applied plots but the application of FYM was on par with the RDF applied plots. The increase in grain yield was 33.14, 30.38, 15.94 and 10 % in tanksilt, vermicompost, biochar and FYM applied plots respectively over RDF applied plots (5750 kg ha⁻¹). Application of amendments resulted in better soil physical environment as discussed earlier and also increased availability of nutrients by improving biological activity and also supplied nutrients directly which was resulted in more plant growth and biomass production which inturn reflected in grain yield of maize.

An increase in grain yield in biochar amendments plots include the effect of biochar on soil physio-chemical properties like enhance water holding capacity, increased cation exchange capacity (CEC) and providing a medium for adsorption of plant nutrients and improved conditions for soil micro-organisms [18]. The better growth in terms of leaf area index, dry matter accumulation and more cobs/plant could be the reason for increased grain yield [19]. Results were in line with the findings of Jayaprakash *et al* [20].

3.7 Economics:

Data pertaining to economics of maize analyzed statistically and was significantly differed due to application of different type of organic amendments and shown in Table 4. Highest cost of cultivation was observed in the application of vermicompost (INR49250 ha⁻¹) and lowest cost of cultivation in control (INR26650 ha⁻¹). Maximum gross returns (INR131283 ha⁻¹), net returns (INR85533 ha⁻¹) and BC ratio (2.87) were recorded with the application of tanksilt and minimum gross returns (INR51431 ha⁻¹), net returns (INR 24781 ha⁻¹) and BC ratio (1.93) were recorded in the control. Application of all the treatments increased net returns compared to control. Application of soil amendments with chemical fertilizer shown the increased grain yield and ultimately resulted in high BC ratio. Results were in line with the findings of Tatarwalet *al.*[21] and Lone *et al.* [22].

4. CONCLUSION: Application of tanksilt produced taller plants at all stages. The growth parameter viz., leaf area, leaf area index recorded significantly higher with tanksilt application which is on par with the application of vermicompost, biochar, FYM. Growth parameters viz., plant population, plant height, leaf area, LAI were not significantly influenced by application of soil amendments at 30 days after sowing. Among the various amendments, the grain yield of

maize followed the order of tanksilt> vermicompost > biochar > FYM. Application of all the treatments increased net returns compared to control.

REFERENCES:

1. Fischer, K.S and Palmer, A.F.E. 1984. Tropical maize. The physiology of tropical field crops. Bath, Avon: *Journal of Wiley & Sons Ltd.*, 213-248.
2. Yakadri, M., Leela Rani, P., Ram Prakash, T., Madhavi, M and Mahesh, N. 2015. Weed management in zero till-maize. *Indian Journal of Weed Science*. 47(3): 240–245.
3. FAOSTAT, 2019-20. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome, Italy.
4. CMIE, 2019-20. Centre for Monitoring Indian Economy. www.cmie.com.
5. Steiner, C., Teixeira, W.G., Lehmann, J., Nehls, T., Macedo, J.L.V., Blum, W.E.H and Zech, W. 2007. Long term effects of manure, charcoal and mineral fertilization on crop production and fertility on a highly weathered Central Amazonian upland soil. *Journal of Plant & Soil*. 291:275-290.
6. Uzoma, K.C., Inoue, M., Andry, H., Fujimaki, H., Zahoor, V and Nihihara. E. 2011. Effect of cow manure biochar on maize productivity under sandy soil condition. *Soil Use & Management*. 27: 205–212.
7. Kemal.Y.O and Abera, M. 2015. Contribution of integrated nutrient management practices for sustainable crop productivity, nutrient uptake and soil nutrient status in maize based cropping systems. *Journal of Nutrients*. 2(1):1-10.
8. Watson, D. J. 1952. The physiological basis of varition in yield. *Advances in Agronomy*. 4: 101-145
9. Mishra, P., Tiwari, U.S., Pandey, H.P., Pathak, R.K and Sachan, A.K. 2019. Impact of INM on Growth and Yield of Maize (*Zea mays*) Crop in Central Plain Zone of Uttar Pradesh, India. *International Journal of Current Microbiology and Applied Sciences*. 8(4): 138-15.
10. Biswasi, S.K., Barik, A.K., Bastia, D.K., Dalei, B., Nayak L and Ra M. 2020. Effect of integrated nutrient management on growth, productivity and economics of hybrid maize in Odisha State. *International Journal of Bio-resource and Stress Management*. 11(5): 465-471.

11. Naveen, J., Saikia, M., Borah, N., Pathak, K and Das, R. 2021. Influence of Nutrient Management and Moisture Conservation Practices on Growth and Development of Organic Baby Corn (*Zea mays* L.) in Assam. *Indian Journal of Agricultural Research*. 55(4): 497-500.
12. Manjhi R. P., Mahapatra P., Shabnam S and Yadava M. S. 2016. Long term effect of nutrient management practices on performance of quality protein maize under maize-wheat cropping sequence. *Indian Journal of Agronomy*. 61(4): 436-442.
13. IniyaPonmozhi, C.N., Kumar, R., Baba,Y and Mallikarjuna Rao, R. 2019. Effect of integrated nutrient management on growth and yield of maize (*Zea mays* L.).*International Journal of Current Microbiology and Applied Sciences*. 8 (10):2675-2681.
14. Boote, K.B., Jones, J.W and Pickering, N.B. 1996. Potential uses and limitations of crop models.*Agronomy Journal*. 88:704-16.
15. Atarzadeh, S.H., Mojaddam M and Saki T.N. 2013. The interactive effects of humic acid application and several nitrogen fertilizers on remobilization star wheat. *International Journal of Biosciences*. 3(8): 116-123.
16. Zeinab A. B., Hossein Z and Masoud, R.2014. Effect of vermicompost and chemical fertilizers on growth parameters of three corn cultivars. *Journal of Applied Science and Agriculture*. 9(9): 22-26.
17. Adeyemo, A. J and Agele, S. O. 2010. Effects of tillage and manure application on soil physicochemical properties and yield of maize grown on a degraded intensively tilled alfisol in southwestern Nigeria. *Journal of Soil Science and Environmental Management*. 1(8): 205-216.
18. Sohi, S., Loez-Capel, E., Krull, E and Bol, B. 2009. Biochar's roles in soil and climate change: A review of research needs. *CSIRO Land & Water Science Report*. 05-09. 64p.
19. Joshi, E., Nepalia, V., Verma , A and Singh, D. 2013. Effect of integrated nutrient management on growth, productivity and economics of maize (*Zea mays*). *Indian Journal of Agronomy*. 58 (3): 434-436.
20. Jayaprakash, T.C., Nagalikar, V.P., Pujari, B.T and Setty, R.A. 2004. Dry matter and its accumulation pattern in maize as influenced by organic and inorganic. *Karnataka Journal of Agricultural Sciences*. 17 (2): 311-314.

21. Tetrawal, J.P., Baldev Ram and Menna, D.S. 2011. Effect of nutrient management on productivity, profitability, nutrient uptake and soil fertility in rainfed maize (*Zea mays*). *Indian Journal of Agronomy*. 56 (4) : 373-376.
22. Lone, A.A., Allai, B.A. and Nehvi, F.A. 2013. Growth, yield and economics of baby corn (*Zea mays* L.) as influenced by integrated nutrient management (INM) practices. *African Journal of Agricultural Research*. 8 (37): 4537-4540.

Table1. Plant population (ha^{-1}) and Plant height (cm) at different growth stages of maize crop as influenced by different treatments.

Treatments	Plant population(per ha)	Plant height (cm)			
		30 DAS	60 DAS	90 DAS	At harvest
T ₁ : Vermicompost	63325	55.50	190.80	238.20	246.10
T ₂ : FYM	63305	54.80	180.50	235.10	243.30
T ₃ : Tanksilt	63333	56.10	195.10	241.20	249.80
T ₄ : Biochar	63310	55.20	188.60	237.10	245.20
T ₅ : Control	63295	53.10	120.10	140.10	148.10
T ₆ : RDF	63300	54.00	176.50	230.30	238.90
SEm \pm	166.67	1.22	5.33	5.73	6.56
CD (P = 0.05)	NS	NS	16.08	17.27	19.76

Comment [SC14]: This is OK. Sub-script.

Table 2. Leaf area(cm^2) and Leaf area index at different growth stages of maize crop as influenced by different treatments

Treatments	Leaf area(cm^2)				Leaf area Index			
	30 DAS	60 DAS	90 DAS	At harvest	30 DAS	60 DAS	90 DAS	At harvest
T ₁ : Vermicompost	1340	4990	5501	2492	0.89	3.33	3.67	1.66
T ₂ : FYM	1320	4960	5483	2471	0.88	3.31	3.66	1.65
T ₃ : Tanksilt	1350	5012	5522	2500	0.90	3.34	3.68	1.67

Comment [SC15]: Please use only LAI. Remove Leaf area.

T ₄ : Biochar	1333	4982	5491	2480	0.89	3.32	3.66	1.65
T ₅ : Control	1280	2000	2400	1200	0.85	1.33	1.60	0.80
T ₆ : RDF	1307	4610	5010	2262	0.87	3.07	3.34	1.51
SEm±	44.93	116.55	122.93	92.80	0.04	0.08	0.09	0.05
CD (P = 0.05)	NS	351.31	370.54	279.72	NS	0.23	0.27	0.15

Table 3. Test weight (g) and yield (kg ha⁻¹) of maize as influenced by different treatments

Treatments	Test weight (g)	Yield (kg ha ⁻¹)
T ₁ : Vermicompost	30.71	7497
T ₂ : FYM	30.43	6325
T ₃ : Tanksilt	30.78	9054
T ₄ : Biochar	30.55	6667
T ₅ : Control	18.41	3547
T ₆ : RDF	28.84	5750
SEm±	0.83	246
CD (P = 0.05)	2.51	741

Table 4. Economics (₹ ha⁻¹) of maize as influenced by different treatments

Treatments	Cost of cultivation (₹ ha ⁻¹)	Gross returns (₹ ha ⁻¹)	Net returns (₹ ha ⁻¹)	BC ratio
T ₁ : Vermicompost	49250	108706	59456	2.21
T ₂ : FYM	45750	91712	45962	2.00
T ₃ : Tanksilt	45750	131283	85533	2.87
T ₄ : Biochar	44570	96671	52101	2.17
T ₅ : Control	26650	51431	24781	1.93

Comment [SC16]: It is mandatory to indicate the price per unit of each item for better understanding of the readers. May be put on a foot note below the table.

T ₆ : RDF	33760	83375	49615	2.47
SEm±	--	3340.82	3340.82	---
CD (P = 0.05)	--	10070.33	10070.33	--

UNDER PEER REVIEW